
2 I 2 2 yy ;11-14So/(L ,) 
UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 

FOR THE SECOND CIRCUIT 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 
Appel l ee, 

-V-

BRANDON GREEN, Pro Se, 
Defendant -Appellant. 

ON APPEAL FROM THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

PRINCIPAL PRO SE BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT BRANDON GREEN 
SEEKING REVIEW OF A DISTRICT COURT JUDGE ' S DENIAL OF AN 

AFFIDAVIT AND MOTION TO RECUSE, 
AND SIMILAR RELATED ISSUES IN A CRIMINAL CASE 

Brandon Gr een Re~ N~ 56400 -054 
Pro Se, De f endant-Appellant 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
TABLE OF CASES AND OTI-IER AUTHORITIES . 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION 

A. A Brief Statement 

B. Jurisdictional Statement 

ISSUES PRESENTED 

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS 
SUMMAR¥ OF 1HE ARGUMENT 

ARGUMENT 

A. THE DISTRICT COURT SHOULD HAVE RECUSED, AND OR ASSIGNED 
~: GREEN'S CASE TO ANOIHER JUDGE: THIS DEPRIVED MR . 

GREEN OF HIS RIGHI' TO DUE PROCESS, AND OR WAS AN ABUSE 
OF DISCRETION 

B. THE DISTRICT COURT SHOULD HAVE REVIEWED MR. GREEN'S IAC 
AND O'[HER POST-CONVICTION CLAIMS, AND OR HELD AN EVIDENT-
IARY HEARING REGARDING THEM, PRIOR TO SENTENCING, FAIL-
URE TO DO SO WAS AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION, AND DEPRIVED 
HIM OF HIS RIGHI' TO DUE PROCESS OF LAW 

C. THE DISTRICT COURT VIOLATED MR. GREEN'S RIGHI' TO SELF-
REPRESENTATION BY FAILING TO ADDRESS HIS EXPLICIT RE-
'QUESTS TO REPRESENT HIMSELF 

D. THE INDIVIDUAL AND OR CUMULATIVE EFFECTS OF THE ISSUE(S) 
DISCUSSED THROUGHOUT THIS BRIEF RESULTED IN PLAIN- AND 
OR PLAIN STRUCTURAL _;ERRORS; AND OR OTHERWISE SO UNDER-
MINED CONFIDENCE IN THE OUTCOME OF THE PROCEEDINGS TO 
THE POINT WARRANTING THIS COURT 'S INTERVENTION 

CONCLUSION 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

ii 

iii 

1 

4 

4 

5 

6 

7 

34 

38 

38 

61 

69 

71 

76 

77 



TABLE OF CASES AND 011-IER AU'IHORITIES 

Cases 

Abbott v . Latshaw, 164 F.3d 141 (3d Cir . 1998) 
Ali v . Mukasey , 529 F.3d 478 (2d Ci r . 2008) 
Ar izona v. Ful minante, 499 U.S . 279 (1991) 
Bender v. United Sta tes, 387 F.2d 628 (1st Cir . 1967) 
Bracy. v. Granley , 520 U.S. 899 (1997) 
Bromfield v. Bronx Leb Spec. Care Ctr . , Inc., 2@21 U.S. Dist. ,LEXIS 229166 (2d Cir. 2021) . 

Canady v. Univ. of Rochester, 736 Fed. Appx. 259 (2d ~ir. 2018) 
Caperton v . A.T. Massey Coal Co., 556 U.S. 868 (2009) 
Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18 (1967) 
Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806 (1975) 
Flannigan v. Vulcan Power Group, LLC, 642 Fed. Appx. 46 (2d Cir. 
Fletcher v. Conoco Pipe Line Co., 323 F.3d 66 (8th Cir. 1980) 
Franklin~- McCaughtry, 398 F.3d 955 (7th Cir. 2005) 
Friedman v. United St ates, 588 F.2d 1010 (5th Cir. 1979) 
Gardner v. United States, 680 F.3d 1006 (6th Cir. 2012) 
Gomez v. United States, 490 U.S. 858 (1989) 
Gray v. Mississippi, 481 U.S. 648 (1987) 
Hajderasi v. Gonzales, 166 Fed. Appx. 580 (2d Cir. 2006) 
Houston v. Lack, 487 U.S. 266 (1988) 

2016) 

67 
60 
71 
66 
39 

52 
58 

39, 42 
7"1> 
69 
71 
60 
45 
66 
63 
75 
75 
so 

Hurles v. Ryan, 752 F.3d 768 (9th Ctr. 2011) 6 
In Meizi Liu v. BIA, 167 Fed. Appx. 871 (2d Cir. 2006) 50 
Johnson v. Kelly, 808 F.2d 214 (2d Cir. 1986) 69 
Johnson v. United States, 520 U.S. 461 (1997) 52, 75 
Liteky v. United States, 510 U.S. 540 (1994) 6, 32, 41 , 44, 51 , 58 
Locascio v. United States, 473 F.3d 493 (2d Cir. 2007) 44, 51 
Love & Madness, Inc. v. Claires Holdings, LLC, 2021 U.S . Dist. LEXIS 
190861 (E.D.N.Y. 2022) 55 
Marshall v. Annuccii , 2020 U.S . Dist. LEXIS 997858 (-S.D.N.Y. 2020) 66 
Marshall v. Jerrico, Inc., 446 U.S. 238 (1980) 39 
Matter. ;:of Doe, 801 F.Supp. 478 (D.N.M. 1992) 3 
Muchnick v. Thompson Corp., 509 F.3d 136 (2d Cir. 2007) 42 
Pashaian v. Eccl eston, 88 F.3d 77 (2d Cir. 1996) 42 
Patterson v. Mccarr on, 130 Fed. Appx. 490 (2d Cir . 2004) 41 
Pol anco v . United Stat es , 2015 U.S. Di.st . LEXIS 108323 (E .D.N.Y. 2022) 55 

iii 



Roberts v. Bailar, 625 F.2d 125 (6th Cir . 1980) 
Rudaj v. United States, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 66745 (S.D.N.Y. 2011) 
Russo v . Times Heuald Record Newspaper , 2019 U.S. Dis t LEXIS 84624 
Shabazz v. United States, 923 F.3d 82 (2d Cir. 2019) 
Sides v. Paolano et al . , 782 Fed. Appx. 49 (2d Cir . 2019) 
Taylor v. United States, 487 F.2d 307 (2d Cir. 1973) 
Torres v. Bellevue S. Assocs. LLP, 2020 1:) 1.1s. Dist. LEXIS 33947 
Tracy v. Freshwater, 623 F.3d 90 (2d Cir. 2010) 
Tyrell v. Lee, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 173968 (2d Cir. 2015) 
United States v. Allt, 41 F.3d 516 (2d Cir . 1994) 
Uffited States ~ v. Al-Moayad, 545 F.3d 139 (2d Cir. 2008) 
United States v. Amico, 486 E.3d 764 (2d Cir. 2007) 
United States v. Arillotta, 529 Fed. Appx. 81 (2d Cir. 2013) 
United States v. Atuana, 816 Fed. Appx. 592 (2d Cir. 2020) 
United States v. Bannister, 467 Fed. Appx. 175 (4th Cir. 2012) 
United States v. Bayuo:, 809 Fed. Appx. 47 (2d Cir. 2020) 
United States v. Brown, 623 F.3d 104 (2d Cir. 2010) 
United States v. Buissereth, 833 Fed. Appx. 910 (2d Cir. 2021) 
United States v. Dreyer, 693 F.3d 803 (9th Cir. 2012) 
United States v. Green, 2013 U.S. Dist . LEXIS 169418 (D. Conn . 2013) 
United States v. Magini, 973 F.2d 261 (4th Cir . 1992) 
United States v. Microsoft Corp., 253 F.3d 34 (D.C. Cir. 2001) '· 
United States v. Mills, 895 F.2d 897 
United States v . Morrison, 153 F.3d 34 (2d Cir. 1998) 
United States v. Nelson, 277 F.3d 164 
United States .v. Olano, 507 U.S. 725 (1993) 
United States v. Pinson, 584 F.3d 972 (10th Cir. 2009) 
United States v. Bilzerin, 926 F.2d 1285 (2d Cir. 1991) 
United States v. Richards, 667 Fed. Appx. 336 (2d Cir. 2016) 
United States v. Scaretta, 1997 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 3025 (2d Cir. 1997) 
United States v. Sogomonian, 247 F.3d 348 (2d Cir. 2001) 
United States v. Stantini, 85 F.3d 9 (2d Cir. 1996) 
United States v. Walker, 974 F.3d 193 (2d Cir. 2020) 

61 
65 
52 
75 
54 
67 
49 

49, 57 
74 
70 
74 
45 
38 

63, 64 
63 

38, 61 
64, 68 

73 
6, 45 

58 
63 
42 
58 
45 
75 
72 
65 
65 

61, 72 
42 
73 
64 
61 

United States v. Wedd, 993 F.3d 104 (2d Cir. 2021) 61 
United States v. Yousef, 327 F.3d 169 (2d Cir. 2003) 6, 45, 51, 57 
United States v . Yuzary, 17 Fed. Appx. 43 (2d Cir . 2001) 61 
Walpert v. Jaffrey, 127 F.Supp. 3d 105 (E.D.N.Y. 2022) 55 

iv 

L 



Weaver v. Massachuset t s, 137 S.Ct . 1899 (2017 ) 
Willi ams v. Pennsylvania, 136 S.Ct. 1899 (2016) 
Wilson v. Walker , 204 F.3d 33 (2d Cir . 2000) 

Statutes 
18 u.s.c. §924 
18 u.s.c. §1962 
21 u. s.c. §841 
21 u.s.c. §846 
28 u.s.c. §144 
28 u.s.c. §455 
28 u.s.c. §2255 

Fed . R. Crim. P. 29 
Fed . R. CrimL,1 P. 33 
Local Crim. R. 49 .1 

Other Authorities 

Code of Conduct fior United States Judges Canon 1 
Code of Conduct for United States Judges Canon 2 
Cpde,,of Conduct for United States Judges Canon 3 

United States Consti tution 
U.S. Const. amend. V 

V 

72 , 75 
40 

69 , 70 

8 
8 
8 
8 

40, 41, 45 
i,o, 41, 42, 45 

55, 68 

11, 15 
11, 15 , 68 

56 
51 
51 

40, 42, 45, 51 

39 



UN ITED STATES CO URT OF APPEALS 
FOR THE SECOND CI RCU IT 

UNITED STATES OF AMERI CA, 
Appellee, 

- V -
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PRO SE BRIEF AND ADDENDUM FOR BRANDON GREEN 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

No. 21 - 22 44 
No. 21-1459(L.) 

This is not your average case; therefore, there are some things worth 

mentioning before proceeding further in this brief. Specificall y, the Appel-

l ant, Brandon Green, would like for this Court to know that he's not a lawyer. 

However, he did decide to proceed Pro Se for the latter portion of the pra:ea:1-

ings irr1 the district court--and he did this because he'd ''been misinformed or 

lied to by every lawyer that [he] had , in some way, shape or form." Nov. 17, 

2020 Tel. Conf. Tr. at 15, 11. 15-16 (Quoting Mr. Green) _(A 110, 11. 15-16) •1 

Mo:rr.eover, he chose to represent himself because it was the "onl y" way he was 

going to properly preserve all of his issues for appeal: Because all of his 

lawyers' failed and or refused to do so. 

As you'll discover from review of this brief, Mr. Green was and sti ll is 

in a fight for his life and liberty. There was a complete breakdown inth:. ad-

versarial process in this case; and it's taken every ounce of effort on Mr. 

Green 's part to expose and remedy this injustice. For example, Mr . Green has 

had to enli st the help of anyone he can, t o incl ude his fami ly , friends , and 

l oved ones, to assist him in this endeavor . They've helped with preparing and 

f iling court pl eadings , making copies, conducting l egal research , etc. , e t c .. 

I t's been no easy task , though. 

FOOTNOTES 
1. Page numbers preceded by an "A" ref er to the pages of the Appendix, f o 1-
lowed 5y the r elevant line number (s) when necessary or otherwise helpful . 
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Moreover, Mr. Green says all this for a few reasons: One, there are 

several subnissions by him in the district court that are duplicate; and some 

of these documents ar e formatted differently. This is because, as he previ -

ously stated, he had to rely on the help of others to draft and file those 

documents. Furthermore, Mr. Green experienced difficulties with his court sub-

missions not being uploaded to his docket. In fact, Mr. Green even had to file 

several complaints with the district court clerk regarding this. S e,e e.g. , 

Docs. 833, 928, 938, and 1035.2 (Complaints by Mr. Green Regarding Court Sub-

missions Not Being Uploaded tq His Docket). Therefore, when seeing that there 

are several court submissions by Mr. Green that were filed more than once, and 

or that are formatted differently, please understand that this is why. 

Next, Mr. Green would like for this Court to know that although this ap-

peal is primarily concerned with a district court judge's refusal to recuse, it 

does discuss other issues, like those concerning the violations .of his 

Constitutional rights to due process, the effective assistance of counsel, to 

represent himself, and moreover to a fair t r ial. However, please note that a 

limited understanding of these issues is necessary; that they all are in one 

way or another directly and or indirectly related. Also, as he'll discussl!Dre 

herein, being that Mr. Green also has currently pending before this Court his 

direct appeal from the final judgment of his criminal case, which is the same 

case that this appeal stems from, this Court should consider any and all issues 

presented herein in the interests of justice and judicial economy. Moreover, 

Mr. ~teen is aware of the considerable backlog of cases in the federal appel-

late courts. see Fed. App. Practice and Proc.· In A Nutshell, 2d ed., at 292, 

Ch. 13, §13.8 (Out of respect for the overburdened courts, advocates should 

file a brief just long enough to present issues both "clearly and comprehen-

sively. ")(Quotations in Original and Citations Onitted). Therefore, he did his 
FOOTNOTES 

2t·h. Df~1=1ffient.numbers preceded_ by '.'Doc(s). 11 correspond to the document number of 
e 1hngs m the Southern District of NY, in Case No., 16-cr-281. 
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best to limi t this brief t o only t he most essent i a l of information deemed nec-

essary :for an adequate unders tanding of the issues presented herein. This makes 

this brief something that t his Court can effec t ively use . 

Now, it ' s no secr et that there are seri ous problems plaguing our Coun-

try' s criminal justice system. For example, overzealous government officials 

at times falsely charge individuals, and engage in coer cive plea bargaining i n 

an attempt t o get them to take plea deals, and cooperate by testifying against 
others. And it's not uncorrnnon for a person in this position to also be 

forced to have an attorney who is too afraid - or otherwise unwil ling - to 

stand up against the government misconduct. As a federal judge recently note::I: 

'"[O]ne of the lawyer's most noble responsibili -
ties is to protect the individual against Government 
excess', in a free socie ty, ' [ t]he lawyer must stand 
independently and resolutely when he or she believes 
the government is wrong. ,~nd on occassion it takes 
great courage. ' It is one thi ng to hope lawyers will 
be courageous, it is quite another ttrask them to fight 
zealously for the rights of t heir clients in a system 
where their own reputa t i ons, livelihoods, and freedom 
would hinge on the discretion of their government ad-
versaries. Who will challenge the government then?" 

https://www.goldsteinhilley.com/attorney-testimonies/hr1678-testimony (Quot-

ing Matter of Doe, 801 F. Supp. 478, 488 (D.N.M. 1992))(0ther Internal Citat-

ions Omitted). This was essentially Mr. Green's dilemma. 

Furthennore, the only thing worse than having an attorney unwil ling to , 

stand up against the government is al so having a judge who is unwilling t o h:>ld 

either of them accountable. That's because fulfil ling the Constitutions prom-

ise of liberty requires judicial engagement. The Constitution was wri t ten to 

l imit government power, but those limits are meaningless unless judges r estrain 

public off icials when they overs tep their bounds. And this is exactly what Mc. 

Green was up against in this case; ergo, it's ~hy he contends that there was a 

compl ete breakdown in the adversarial process here. However, he chose to-ffght: 

"I t ''. s better to die on your feet than to live on your knees." Doleres Ibarruri 
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(Speech i n Paris , 3 Sept. 1936). Mr . Green truly bel ieves this ; and that i s 

what he did . Now , he ' s come befor e this Court t o seek review of some of these 

i ssues• Relevant to this appeal is whether Mr . Green 's due process rights were 

vi olated, as well as his rights to self -representation, to the effective assis-

tance of counsel, and to a fair trial , due to the district court' s fai l ure t o 

provide him with a meaningful opportunity to be heard , and refusal to grant him 

prose status, to recuse, to hold an evidentiary hearing, and or to assign the 

case to another judge. Mt-. Gra:n also contends that the dist rict court abused 

i t s discretion in failing and or refusing to do these things. And, with all 

that being said, here's . the information forming the basis of this appeal: 

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTI ON 

A. A Brief Statement 

Mr. Green would like to briefly note that this statement of jurisdict-

ion is suhnitted "only" for the purpose of this appeal ; which seeks review of 

a district court's denial of a motion to recuse and for reconsideration subrri.t~ 

ted in a criminal case. Mr. Green has other appeals pending before this Court 

which stem from this same case. See Nos. 21-1459(1.), 21-1896(Con.), and 21-

1923(Con.). Moreover, Mr. Green would like to preserve his right to argue in 

his other appeals that the district court did not have jurisdiction, and O.t'\\08 

not the proper venue. Therefore, he sucmitted this brief statement in an at-

tempt, .to preserve this right, and to prevent the Government fr:om . 0s.i":ng. i t 

against him in the future. 

Mr. Green also sucmits that any and all i ssues raised herein whi ch may 

ordinarily be out side the scope of this appeal (No. 21-2244) should neverthe-

l ess be consider ed, in the interests of justice and judicial economy, being 

that he also has pending befor e this Court his appeal from the f inal judgment 

in his criminal case (No. 21-1459(1.)). Moreover, consideration of these is-

sues i s necessary to prevent a mi scarriage of justice. 

4 
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B. J ur i sdictional St atement 

This is an appeal fol lowing t he ent ry of a final jud~ment in a criminal 

case, from an order ent ered on June 16, 2021 , in the Southern Dis t r i c t of New 

York (hereafter the '1Disttict Court") , by the Hon . Drust. Ct. ·J udge, Pau l G. 

Gardephe (hereafter the "Judge"), denying an affidavit and motion to recuse.fre 

Judge, and a motion for reconsideration of the Dis t rict Court ' s Februac.y 10, 

2021 Order declining to hear Mr .. Green ' s ineffective assistance of counsel 

claims prior to sentencing. Doc. 1024 (Order Denying Aff. and Mot. to Recuse, 
3 . 

and Mot. for Recons.)(Add.1) 1 Doc. 955 (Aff . and Mot. to Recuse)(A 1 ), Doc. 

956 (Mot. for Recons.), and Dx. 956 (Feb. 10 Order )(A 34). On July 2, 2021, Mr. Gr~ 

een filed a letter requesting a certificate of appealability (COA), and reqLBSt 

for an emergency stay and notice of intent to appeal the Judge's denial of his 

recusal motion. Doc. 1046 (A 39). A duplicate of this was filed on July:_ 9,. 2021. 

Doc. 1047. On July 13, 2021 the District Court issued an order denyiing Mr. 

Green's request for a CDA. Doc. 1050 (A 40). The final judgment :in that crim-

inal case was .entered on July 26, 2021. Doc . 1057. On July 28, 2021 Mr. Green 

filed a notice of appeal from the final j udgment. Doc. 1059 (A41). A dupli-:-

cate of this was filed August 2, 2021 . Doc. 1061. Also, on August 2, 2021, Mr. 

Green filed a notice of appeal from the Judge's denial of his recusal motion, 

(A 42); and, an affidavit accompanying a motion for permission to appeau. in 

forrna pauperis. Doc. 1063. Furthermore, Mr. Green filed another request for a 

CDA , on August 16, 2021, to appeal the J udge's denial of his recusal motion. 

Doc. 1067 (A43). The Judge denied that request on September 8, 2021, Do c . 

1077 (A 44 ) ; and, on September 15, 2021 Mr. Green filed his notice of appeal to 

appeal this denial. Doc. 1079 (A 46 ) . 

FOOTNOTES 
J . Page numbers preceded by "Add!' refer to the pages of the Addendugi . 
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I SS UES PRESENTED 

I . Did the District Court abuse i t s discret i on, and or violate Mr. Green ' .s 

Due Process rights by not r ecusing, and or assi gning Mr. Green 's case to a dif-

ferent judge, where the Judge, knowing Mr. Green wasn't sat isfied with his at -

torneys' performance, s tated that his attorneys had performed admirably, aml 

that he was the beneficiary of excellent representation, where such statements 

"reflected Otha Judge's] premature judgment about" Mr . Green's, ineffective as-

sistance of counsel claims, quoting United States v. Dreyer, 693 F.3d 803 (9 th 

Cir . 2012), created an impermissible appearance of partiality ; see generally, 

28 U.S.C. §455(a), and displayed a deep-seated favoritism that would make fair 

judgment impossiblei see Liteky v. United States, 510 U.S. 540, 11~ s.ct. 1147, 

127 L.Ed. 2d 474 (1994); and, where the aggregate,,of the Judge's conduct, which 

inclilided, inter alia, interrupting Mr. Green while he spoke, making sarcastic 

statements directed towards him, threatening him, and abruptly ending the con-

ference while he was speaking, would have led "a reasonable person to question 

the [Judge.
1

'.s] impartiality." United States v. Yousef, 327 F.3d 56, 169'(2dCir~. 

2003)(citations in original); see also, 28 u.s.c. §455(a), and Hurles v. Ryan, 

752 F. 3d 768 ( 9th Cir. 2011) (As a matter of due process, a judge who fails the 

"appearance of impa:tti:a.Hty' ' test may not sit as the judge in the case.). 

II. Did a plain-error result from the Judge's disconnecting the line - during 

the January 5, 202.1 Teleconference - while Mr. Green, a Pro Se criminal def en-

dant, was speaking, thereby preventing him from presenting his case . 

III. Did the District Court abuse its discretion, and or violate Mr . Green's 

rights to flue Process, the effective Assistance of Counsel, and to a Fair Trial, 

by failing to review, and or hold an evidentiary hearing regarding, his inef-

fective assistance of counsel (IAC} and other post-conviction claims; and orfy 

execute and submi t .an atton1ey-client privilege waiver form requiring him to 

· forth h1' s claims , when neither of those things and affidavit of facts setting 

6 



were necessary; arrl or, far rot taking i nto cons ideration tre prejudices suffered 

by Mr. Green when trying to execute and sul:mi t these things . 

IV . Did the District Court violate Mr. Green ' s right to self-representation cy 

fail i ng to address his explicit reques t s t o do so, especial ly after it assured 

him he could do so at any time , and in the event he wasn't satisfi ed with his 

appointed shadow-counsel's assistance. 

V. Did the aforementioned issues taken individually, and or collectively, re-

sult in a plain- and or plain structural -error ; or .otherwise so severely un-

dermine confidence in the out come of the proceedings to the poi nt warranting 

this Court's iHtervention. 

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS 

Brandon Green was born February 26 , 1983 in Bronx, New York. When Mr. 

Green was arrested for this case he had some history with the criminal justice 

system, and a very basic understanding of his rights. Nevertheless, upon his 

arrest , and as the case proceeded through· the courts, although he didn ' t yet 

fully understand his rights, he knew deep down inside that something was in-

herently wrong--that his rights were being violated . It felt to him more like 

he was being persecuted than prosecuted. Like so many others in the federal 

criminal justice system, he felt as though he was being harassed because of 

the people he knew: Not necessarily because of anything he did . 

Mr. Green, an African-American entreprenuer from inner-city New York, 

owns an entertainment company (which includes music production). His primary 

customers are those in the hip-hop music scene. Ultimately, he became caught 

up in a federal indictment that sought to prosecute a customer of his, Latique 

Johnson (who he shot a music video for) . And it wasn't long after Mr. Green's 
arrest that he real ized it wasn't him the Government was af t er : It was Mr. 

Johnson. Mr. Green ' s attorneys made this very cl ear to him. 

7 



Mr. Johnson was alleged to be the founder of a bloods gang, called the 

Bl ood Hound Brims (BHB ). The Government first indi cted Mr. Johnson by himself 

for racketeering and related offenses. That indic tment was unseal ed May· 9, 

2016. Ode . 3 (Original Indictment). The Governmen t then indicted Mr . Green ao::i 

nearly a dozen others in or around January 1, 2017. Doc . 27 (S1 Supersedi ng In-

di ctment) . Before they successfully indicted Mr. Green, however, there was at 

least one failed attempt--an indictment that came back "No Bill ." In the S1 In-

dictment, Mr. Green was only charged with three counts, to-wit: Ct. 1, racket-

eering conspiracy, 18 u.s .c. §1962-(d); Ct . 4, narcotics conspiracy , 21 u.s.c. 
§§846 and 841(b)(l)(A); and Ct. 5 , use, carrying, and possessing firearms dur-

ing and in relation to, and in furtherance of, the narcotics conspiracy charge:! 

in Ct. 4, 18 u.s.c. §924(c)(l)(A)(i). The Government superseded the ind:icttrent 

several more times, all the way up to the fifth superseding indictment, which 

was returned on or about October 15, 2018. Doc. 418 (SS &ip=rseding Indictment) . 

Mr. Green was arrested May 17, 2017, about a year after the Original In-

dictment was returned, in a two-story uownhouse, in Bridgeport, Conn •. He sur-

rendered outside the home immediately, however authorities still went inside 

and illegally searched the residence where they allegedly found, among other 

things , a bag with some handguns in it. Later that day Mr. Green was taken re-
fore Mag. J. Gabriel W. Gorenstein, in the Southern District of New York, to 

be arraigned. Doc. 105 (Arraignment). There, he was appointed the attorney, 

Susan J.. Walsh, who entered into a plea of not guilty on his behalf for all 

three counts he was charged with. See id. 

Mr. Green maintained his innocence to Ms. Walsh, and stated he wanted to 

see the evidence against him . Ms. Walsh's response was that the Government \\ES 

not after him; that they wanted Mr. Johnson. Moreover, she kept insisting that 

he take a plea deal, and cooperate with the Government by testifying against Mr. 

Jc:hnsoo and the others . She assured him that tf he did, the Government would 
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rel ocat e him and his l oved ones. Ms. Walsh · l at er wrote him a letter informing 

him that his discover y had been sent to the wrong jail ; and she continued to 

insist he take a plea deal and cooperate . This was even after he told her on 

several occasions that he real ly didn't know these .people (his co-defendant s ) , 

that he met Mr. Johnson when he shot a music video for him, and that he had 

noth1ng to offer, and moreover did not want to cooperate. Mr. Gr een made cl.ear 

that this wasn ' t the direction he wanted to go with this case. 

On December 8, 2017, because of disagreements over how his case was be~ 

ing handled, Mr. Green asked Ms. Walsh to relieve hersel f from his case, which 

she did. Doc. 191 (Sub. of Couns . Req.). Ms. Walsh was replaced by the attorn-

ey Eric R. Bresl in, from the Law Firm Duane Morris LLP, who filed his notice of 

appearance on December 20 , 2017 . Doc. 201. A few months later , Mr. Breslin W3S 

joined by the attorney, Melissa S. Geller, also from Duane Morris LLP. Doc. '2/45 

(Notice of Appearance). These attorneys represented Mr . Green at his trial, 

and they'll be coHectively referred to herein as "Trial Counsel", unless oth-

erwise referenced by their individual names. 

Mr. Green informed Trial Counsel of the same things he told Ms . Walsh: 

i.e., That he was innocent; that he wanted to see the evidence against him; 

that he really didn't know these people; and , that he had met Mr. Johnson by 

doing some work for him (shooting a music video). Tri al Counsels' responseW:JS 

similar to Ms. Walsh: They informed him that the Government wasn ' t:after him, 

but that it was Mr. Johnson they wanted; that he was simpl y coll ateral damage; 

and, they insisted he take a plea deal and cooperate by t estifyi ng against Mr . 

Johnsen and the others. Moreover, Ms. Geller said he spoke very well,. ard IDJl.d 

make a good witness to help the Government satisfy the el ements. However, Mr. 

Green maintai ned his innocence, and informed them that this was not how .he 

wanted to handl e this case. 

Of the nearl y dozen other defendants indict ed in this case , on l y Mr. · 
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Green and two others went to trial, to-wit: The head of the i ndictment, Lati.qt:E 

Johnson, and Donnell Murray. Trial Counsel filed numerous pre-trial mot ions 

and letters, and entered into certain stipulations with the Government . How-

ever , Mr . Green's input regarding these things wasn't always sought; they did 

not move to suppress and challenge all the evidence as he requested; and they 

even did some of this despite Mr. Green expressly indicating that he disagreed 

with such. 

For example, at trial the Government alleged, inter alia, that Mr. Green 

was a primary supplier of drugs for the gang; and to support this they intro-

duced evi'Cience of and from a traffic stop (hereafter the "Traffic Stop") that 

Mr. Green was involved in, on August 3, 2010, along with another co-defendant. 

The evidence consisted of testimony from one of the arresting officers, NYPD 

Ofc. Jeffrey Sisco, and some alleged cocaine Ofc . Sisco "claimed" to have re-

covered from Mr. Green. However, prior to trial Mr. Green informed .Trial 

Cotn1sel that he wanted to challenge the Government's use of the Traffic Stop, 

as well as the evidence, because: 1) that evidence was planted-on him, 2) he 

was illegally seized and searched, 3) the arresting officers badly beat him, 

4) all of the charges were dismissed, 5) the entire case was dismissed in his 

favor and sealed, and 6) he received around $30,000.00 from a civil suit~-

s t the NYPD and Ofc. Sisco . because of all this . Moreover, Mr. Green told 1nal 

Cotn1sel to locate the Certificate of Disposition (hereafter the "Disposition") 

from that Traffic Stop, which would support this. Trial Counsel told him prior 

to trial, however, that they couldn't locate the Disposition, and that Jesus 

Christ himseM could come down from the heavans, and he (Mr. Green) still would 

not be able to find it. Trial Counsel even told the District Court prior to 

trial that they couldn't locate the Dispositi on; however, Mr. Green later frurl 

it (A 47), along with an email between Trial Counsel and the Government prov:irg 

that they lied to him and the Districti:Court--that they had the Disposition 

10 



Furthermor e' Trial Counsel never chal leng·ed 
prior to gcil iing . to trial. (A 48) · , 

' f the Traff ic Stop or the evidence allegedl y obtained 
the Governments use o · 
from it , but actually stipulated to these things. (A49) . 

The trial , which was presided ovr,r by the Hon- Paul G. Gardepl-ie, began 

• • · F b . 1 9 2019 and ended approximatel y five weeks later, 
with Jury selection e ruary , , 
on March 27 , 2019, when the j ury reached their verdict. Doc- 570 (Jury Verrlict). 

The jury found Mr- Green guilty as to all three counts of the indictment that 
d 'ro" 

he was charged with. However, the jury concluded that the Government ha t 

proved beyond a reasonable doubt that the pattem of racketeering activity ti-at 

Mr. ~reen allegedly agreed would be coomitted involved (1) attempted murde~ or 

conspiracy .to conmit murder ... or (2) robbery , attempted robbery, or :con,-

spi racy to cormni t robbery under either Federal or New York law• .. See & 
On April 25, 2019 Trial Counsel filed motions for a new trial and judg-

ment of acquittal. Doc. 639. About a month later Mr. Green, after readirg trese 

motions for the first time in the mail, sul:xnitted his own Pro Se pleading ti-

tled, "[A]mended [D]eclaration In Support of Rule 29, [and] 33 Mot ion", in an 

effort to raise issues not raised by Trial Counsel, and to bring to the Dis-

trict Court's attention his grievances regarding the violations of his rights 

that had taken place: i..e., The Government and _similar official misconduct, arl 

his Trial Counsels' ineffectiveness . See Doc. 665 (Suppl. Deel.) (A 51 ) • 

Around two months later, on July 11, 2019, because Mr. Green was sti ll 

experiencing problems with his Trial Counsels' performance, he subnitt ed anoth-

er Pro Se sul:xnission--a Motion for Stay/Continuance. Doc. 680 (Mot. for St ay) 

(A 59) • He also sent a letter requesting the same armm.d this tm· e. Doc. 701.. 

Moreover, in tbe Mot. for Stay Mr. Green "again" i nformed the Judge, i nt er 

alia, that he wasn't satisfied wi th Trial Counsel s' per formance ; t hat Trial 

Counsel fai led to go over wi th him their post -tr ial subnissions prior to fil -

ing them , and didn ·' t incorporate the argument s he r equest ed be made; and, that 
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he was "in the process of . . . researching and presenting all of the meri-
torious issues and arguments that were not raised by [Tri al Counsel] in the[ir] 

Rule 29 and 33 Pleadings." (id. ) . However, the Dis trict Cour t didn't address 

these concerns, nor did Mr. Green ' s Trial Counsel, so he moved to have them 

replaced. 
Trial Counsel was replaced by the attorney .Zoe J ; Dolan, out of Cal.i-

fornia. Ms. Dolan filed her notice of appearance on July 22, 2019, Doc. 69J; 

and a proposed substitution of counsel request on July 23, 2019 . Doc. 693. On 

July 25, 2019 the District Court held a Substitution of Counsel Hearing, and 

thereafter granted Mr. Green's request to replace Trial Counsel with Ms. D::il.an. 

Doc. 705 (Order Granting Subs. of Couns. Req.). The Judge stated, at that ccn-

ference, however, that he thought that Mr. Green was the recipient of excellent 

representation from his Trial Counsel: 

THE COURT: . ..• I will say that I think that both 
Mr. Breslin and Ms . Geller have performed admirably through-
out their entire representation of Mr. Green, both in terms 
of their in-court performances as well as in their written 
mateEials. So I think that Mr. Green has been the benefici-
ary of excellent representation up to now. 

July 25, 2019 Sub. of Couns. Conf. Tr. at 5~6 (emphasis added). And the Judge 

continued to allow Trial Counsel to maintain control over certain aspects of 

Mr. Green's discovery and case files, even after they were relieved from rep-

resenting him, after Mr. Breslin stated: 

MR. BRESLIN: .•.• The existence of the protect-
ive order is going to make it sometimes difficult I think 
for Ms. Dolan to be able to go over certain parts .of the 
3500 material with Mr. Green because she's in California. 
My firm will 1;1ndertake to continue to bring the cooperat-
or 3500 ma ten.al to Mr. Green so that he can review , it 
for later conversations with Ms. Dolan as a courtesy to 
the Courts and the CJA so that this thing does not slide 
further. 

id. at 5, 11. 2-9(emphasis added). 

Befo,re and after Ms. Dolan was appointed to Mr. Green's case he made 
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clear to her his concerns regarding the violations of his rights that h~d oc-

cured, especially regarding the Government and official misconduct, and the 

ineffectiveness of his Trial Counsel. Mr. Green sent Ms. Dol an several de-

tailed emails and letters stating these things. In response , Ms. Dolan in-

formed him on multiple occasions that those issues, especially those relating 

to his Trial Counsel's performance, are to be raised in a Section 2255 motioo, 

not a motion for new trial or judgment of acquittal. 

On September 17, 2019 the District Court issued a Memorandum Opinion arl 

Order denying the post-trial motions for new trial and a judgment of acquittal 

submitted by Mr. Green's Trial Counsel. Doc. 743 (Mem. Op. & Order). Therein _ 

the Judge also addressed the post-trial motions filed by the attorneys for the 

other trial defendants', and "some" of Mr. Green's.· arguments raised in his Pro 

Se Suppl. Deel .. See Doc. 743, n.3. However, the District Court didn't address 

Mr. Green's claims against his Trial Counsel, or the other violations of his 

rtghts that he argued in his Suppl. Deel. and other Pro Se submissions. 

On September 23, 2019 Ms. Dolan submitted a motion asking the Judge to 

reconsider his decisions regarding Trial Counsels' and Mr. Green's post-trial 

sutmissions. Doc. 746 {Mot. for Recons.); and on September 28, 2019, she filed 

objections to the Pre-sentence Report. Doc. 751 (Obj. to PSR). 

On October 30, 2019, a day before Mr . Green's then scheduled sentencing 

hearing, he sent to the District Court a Pro Se Sentencing Memorandum that he'd 

written. Doc. 760 (Pro Se Sent. Mem.)(A 63). He did this in an attempt to~ 

to the District Court's attention his grievances regarding the violations of 

his rights that had taken place~-aft:er Ms,_Dolan proved unwilling to raise the 

issues herself. 

On October 31, 2019 there was a hearing held at what was supposed t o be 

Mr. Green's sentencing; however, because of allegations made by him in his Sent. 

Mem • . regarding the violations of his rights that had occur ed, the Judge >ad.- , 
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· to allow the par t i es to brief the District Gout t on 
journed his sentencing 
whether it should hear Mr. Gr een's ineffect ive assis tance of counsel ( IAC) and 

other cl:aims (e.g., Government misconduct) prior to sentencing. The Judge 

noted that Mr. Green, in his Sent . Mern., "raised a wide variety of l egal a
nd 

about his trial and his l awyer ' s performance at that trial." 
factual complaints 

The Judge further claimed that "[t]hese arguments are dif-
(A 82, 11. 12-14). 
ferent than arguments that Ms. Dolan made in a second series of posttrial mot-

ions." (id., 11. 15-18). Because of this, the Judge adjourned Mr. Green 's sent-

encing. (id.,_ 11. 18-19). This was done after the Judge unsuccessfully tried 

to persuade Mr. Green, and or persuade Ms. Dolan to persuade him not to file 

his Sent. Mern.. Moreover, because of the COVID-19 pandemic, this would be Mr. 

Green's last in-person court appearance until his sentencing. (id., 11. 18-19). 

Ms. Iblan - for the llDSt µirt - objected to the adjournment, both in person, 

(A 83-84 ):, .and_ in . wr~ ting . . S e:_e __ Doc. 758 (Ltr. by Ms. Dolan Objecting to 

District Court's Broposed Sentencing Continuance). She also expressed ccrce.rns 

with her being retained for the purpose of representing Mr. Green at sentenc-

ing; and she proposed that a Faretta hearing be held in order for Mr. Green to 

proceed Pro Se . for any issues that extend beyond their retainer agreement. (A_ 

86 ). Moreover, in response to the Sent. Mem. Ms. Dolan stated that from 

what she observed most the issues raised therein may or may not properly be tl:e 

subject of a Section 2255 motion, and that "in any event all of the argl.llTients 

that [she] could possibly think to raise with respect to ••• the posttrial 

motions and sentencing are already before the Court." (A 83, 11. 13-21). 

Furthermore, at the hearing the Judge suggested to Ms. Dolan that she 

discuss with Mr. Green his desire to proceed forward ·with addressing his clairrE 

raised in his Sent. Mem., and to respond back with a letter on how :he wishes 

to proceed. (A 87, 11. 7-13). The Judge also suggested, and or attempt ed to 

persuade Mr. Green, and or attempted several times to persuade Ms. Dolan t o 
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persuade Mr . Green not to file the Sent. Mem • . (See , e. g .. , A 85, 11. 17-18; A 

86 , 11. 1-3; id . , 11. 5-6; and A 87, 11. 7-13). Ms. Dolanmadeclear,ln,.;e.;er, 

that Mr.' Green was "pretty adamant that he wishes to press [ those i ssues ]• [Arri 

that] [h]e also has some further exhibit[ s] and he's reques ted some more from 

the [Q]overnment, so ... [his] posi t ion is firm." (A 87, 11. 14-17; also sre, 

A 88, 11. 6-7). 

This is what the Judge had to say about Mr. Green's Sent. Mem.: 

THE COURT: . ... So, m~ concern is I now have a 
Rule 29 and a Rule 33 motion pending before me. A defen-
dant has already raised claims of ineffective assistance 
of counsel , because there's been a change of counsel. Ms. 
DoLan has come in to represent Mr. Green in place of Mb, 
Breslin and Ms. Geller, who represented him at trial. So 
it is unusual, the situation we find ourselves in. I 
haven't researched the matter, but my gut instinct is 
that it would probably behoove me to explore the claims 
of ineffective assistance of cotmsel now. 

(A 89, 11. 5-14)(emphasis added). The Judge then explains to Mr. Green that 

- in order to address his IAC claims - he'd be required to waive the attorney-

client privilege, (id., 11. 21-23) , and that this would have to be i n writing. 

(A 9.0, 1. 2). Afterwards, the Judge :adjourns the proceedings for a week so 

that Ms. Dolan can discuss with Mr. Green his desire to proceed forward with 

his post-conviction claims; and asks that she reply back in a letter with his 

decision. (A 91, 1. 23, et seq.). 

For the next year both Mr. Green and Ms. Dolan wrote the Judge on num-

erous occasions , reminding the Judge of Mr. Green's affirmative desire to be 

heard regarding his post-conviction claims raised in his Sent. Mem. and other 

Pro Se submissions, and informing the Judge of Mr. Green's desire to proceed 

Pro Se with respect to the same, See, e.g., Docs. 767, 774, 775, 777 , 782, 

852, and 883 (Ltrs. from Mr. Green and Ms. Dolan stating these things) . Mr. 

Green also - throughout this time period - sent several letters to his previ-

ous atto~neys, and the Government, requesting his client files and other rel-
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evant case information, and asking the District Court to order production of 

the same, see, e.g., Docs. 854, 893, 895, and 896, so that he could adequatel y 
prepare and present his claims. 

On November 17, 2020, a year after Mr. Green 's original sentencing hear-

ing was adjourned, the District Court held a teleconference to resolve issues 

surrounding his representation in connection with post-trial matters (hereafter 

the "Nov. 17 Tel. Conf."). This is when the District Court relieved Ms. Dolan, 

and granted Mr. Green's request to represent himself. However, because the 

Judg<i= ·insisted Mr. Green not try and represent himself completely on his own 

(see, e.g. ; -A 109, ll. 13-14; A 115 ; A 117, 11. 13-22; and A 133 ) , he re-

quested and was granted the appointment of counsel under the Criminal Justice 

Act (CJA) to assist him, as co-counsel.4 (A 138, 11. 1-10). Nevertheless, 

the Judge assured Mr. Green that if he later decided to proceed solely Pro Se, 

that that was his right--that he could do so at any time. (A 117, ll. 5-22; A 

136, 11. 2-4). 

During the Nov. 17 Tel. Conf. Mr. Green also expressed his frustrations 

with the p~oceedings: i.e., That he'd been lied to and misinformed by every 

lawyer he had, (A ill, 11. 15-16; and A 117); that he hadn't received a fair 

triai, . (A 118, 11. 18-25); and that he still hadn't been provided with his ~- . 

client files and other case documents despite :numerous requests to his previ-

ous attorneys, among others. (See , e .g. , A l10 ; A 122 ). 

Regarding Mr. Green's contentions that his lawyers' hadn ' t provided him 

with his client files and other relevant case information, the Judge stated 

that, "well, I don't have any reason to· · believe that you didn't get everything 

you were entitled to before the trial began", (A 123, 11. 11-13); to which Mr. 

Green replied: "I didn't. I didn't." (id., 1. 14). The Judge then states: 

FOOINOTES 
4. When CJA counsel was lat er appoi nted there was some apparent confusion r e-
garding exactl y what his role was; and he appeared to take on mor e of a role . 
of Stand-by Counsel. 
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THE COURT: Okay Well h prove that, if you wish . but as' IYOlf t have an oppor tunity t o reas t be . ' s1. ere today I ha on o 11.eve that d" d ' ' ve no receive th d. you l. n t get' or your l awyers didn't 
the tri~l b!ga~~covery material and the 3500 material before 

(id., 11 · lS-l9)(emphasis added). 

After some discussion by the Judge regarding the Government's d" 1.scover:.y 

obligations, Mr. Green reminds the Judge about Mr. Breslin' s promise , at the 

July 25, 2019 Substitution of Cotmsel hear1.·ng, to undertake to cont'in:e to rrain-

tain control over certain aspects of his case files, and to continue to bring 

law enforcement 3500 materials to him at the jail for later discussions with 

Ms· Dolan, as a courtesy to her, being that she's located out of California. 

(A 127 11. 19~23). He then informs the Judge that he's sent numerous requests 

to both Mr• Breslin, and Ms. Dolan, to be provided with these things, but has 

yet to be given anything except law enforcement 3500 material for his co-defen~ 

dant, Donnell Murray• (See id•) . He then states that he's also sent tre Dis-

trict Court multiple letters and requests, requesting numerous documents, and 

that until he's provided this information, he doesn't wish to proceed.(i\128; n. 

3-15 ). 
After hearing Mr. Green's complaints, the Judge asks Ms. Dolan if Mr. Br-

eslin gave her his file on this case, (id., 11. 16-17 ) , to 'Which she replies: 

"Y H es, your onor. He did . 11 (id., L 18). However, as you'll discover later, 

this was a lie. The Jud:5e then asks if "that include[d1 the trial materials, 

the 3500 materials, the rule 16 discovery, et cetera?11 (id. ,.1J.. 19-20). M:;. Iblan 

stated that "[i]t did not include all of the 3500 material.
11 

(id., 11. 22-23). 

She then goese on to claim that "Mr. Breslin confirmed with (her1 that all rrat-

erials to which Mr. Green had been entitled to were provided to him if rot crce, 

and [she] also provided additional materials in response 

that Mr. Green made as well." (id., iL 23, to A. 129 , 1. ,2)~ 
then multiple times, 

to numerous · ·requests 

This being untrue upset Mr. Green very much, causing him to speak out i n pro-
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test regarding this. (A129, 11. 10-22; A 13), 1112-1.S;A 1_32, 11. 10-21). 

Regarding Mr. Green's claims that his attorneys were ineffective, the 

Judge informed him that he'd be required to first waive the attorney-client 

privilege before the court could address those claims; and that he'd soon be 

appointed an attorney who would present him vruth an affidavit for him to sign 

in order to do this. (A 141 ). The Judge also informed Mt. Green ,concerning 

his client files and other information he'd been seeking, to discuss this with 

his new lawyer during their first meeting together. (A 122, 11. 18-22). Mr. 

Green informed the Judge that he had no problem waiving the attorney-client 

privilege because he profossed and maintained his innocence to every attorney 

he had from day one. (A 120,11. 20-22; and A 121, 11. 14-16). Moreover, at the 

end of the conference the Judge stated that once Mr. Green was appointed coun-

sel, that another conference would be scheduled so the Judge could discuss with 

Mr. Green and his new lawyer how they wish to proceed. (A 138,11. 17-21). Fol-

lowing that conference, the District Court issued an order directing the Gov~ 

ernment to appoint "Stand-by" counsel for Mr. Green, pursuant to his request. 

See Doc. 906 (Nov. 17, 2021 Order Directing Government to Arrange for the Ap-

pointment of Stand~by Counsel for Mr. Green). 5 

Two days after the conference'.,· on November 19, 2020, the District Court 

entered an order stating, inter alia, that it would hear Mr. Green's IAC and 

other claims prior to sentencing. Doc. 907 (hereafter the ''Nov. 19 Order"). The 

Judge further stated therein that in order to proceed with his IAC claims, Mr. 

Green would be required to execute and return an attorney-client privilege 

(informed consent) waiver form (hereafter the ''Waiver Form"), along with an af-

fidavit setting forth his allegations concerning the performance of his previ-

ous attorneys (hereafter the "Affidvait"); and, that these things were d.E no 

FoorNOTES 
5. Albeit the Judge stated at the conference that the appoi ntment of counsel 
per Mr. Green's request would be as Co-Counsel, the order states for the Gov-
ernment to appoint Stand-by Counsel per his request . 
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later than December 9 , 2020. See id. 

A few weeks later, on December 4 , 2020, after Mr . Green hadn ' t yet r e-

ceived the Nov . 19 Order and Waiver Form, he sent the Distr ict Court a l etter 

titled "Request for Additional Time to Submit Affidavit," to inform the Judge 

he hadn't yet received the Waiver Form, and that he needed more time to submit 

his Affidavit. This request was sent "Certified Mail", because Mr. Green had 

been experiencing problems with his court submissions not being uploaed to his 

docket. I t was received by the District Court on December 9, 2020; however, it 

wasn't uploaded to his docket. Therefore, Mr. Green filed another complaint 

with the clerk, along with proof of service, showing that the request was 

delivered. See Doc. 928 (A _1_Lr4). This didn't work, though; and over the next 

couple of weeks Mr. Green sent several more l etters and documents · to the Dist-

rict Court, which also were not uploaded to hi s docke t. Consequently, Mr. Green 

sent the clerk another compl aint, along with, inter alia , a copy of the Dec. 4 

request, and proof of service . See Doc. 938 (A 146)(Please note that this cmplaint 

is incorrectly dated January S, 2021; it was actually sent out shortly after 

January 19). 6 

On December 8, 2020 there was a conference held to follow up on the Nw; 

17 Tel. Conf. . (hereafter the "Dec. 8 Conf. "). On the line during this confer-

ence was Mr .. Gieen 's newly appointed counsel, the attorney Steven Witzel. Mr. 

FOOTNOTES 
6. It's definitely worth noting that . there were multiple court submissions 
sent by Mr. Green that specifically addressed the issue of him not receiving 
the Waiver Form, and needing more time to submit it and his Affidavit; and trat 
these were some of the things that he experienced difficulties with not being 
uploaded to his docket. Furthermore, in one of those letters, i.e., one dated 
Jan. 6, 2021, Doc. 932, Mr. Green also alleged that the Judge was bias. That 
letter wasn't uploaded to his docket until January 26, 2021, after he filed a 
complaint with the District Court clerk. (A 146),. For some reason, however, 
Mr. Green' s letter dated Dec. 4, 2020, informing the Judge he never received 
the 1./aiver Form, and needed more time to submit it and his Affidavit, was rever 
uploaded to his docket. This was even after he sent multiple complaints, and 
proof it was received by the District Court. (A 144; A lii5). Moreover, as you 
will see later on, although Mr. Green had proof the District Court receieved 
these letters, the Judg~ acted as if he had no idea Mr. Green didn't have it; 
and made it appear as it he was simply unwilling to submit those things. 
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Gr een and Mr . Wi t zel did not speak for the E1r st t ime until af ter the confer-

ence, though . 

When the Dec . 8 Conf . began the Judge stated that he and Mr . Wi t zel had 

worked together i n the U.S . At torney 's Of fice many years ago, and that they 've 

not had any substantive corrmunication in "probably 20 or more years. " (A 153, 

11. 14-19). The Judge then asks Mr. Witzel if he 'd had an opportunity to spxik 

with Mr. Green yet, (id., 11. 20-21); to which Mr. Wi t zel replies that he had 

not . (14.:_, L 22) • Then, after bringing Mr. Witzel up-to-speed on what 's tran-

spi red in the case thus far, (A 153-155) , the Judge goes on to inform him that 

"suffice ·i t to say, Mr. Green has many concerns, and he would be well advised 

to consult with an attorney about his concerns regardi ng his prior counsel , his 

concerns about documents that he wants access to, as well as other matters." 

(A l55J 11.,~14-18) • The Judge then says: "I should also tell you, Mr. Witzel, 

that I have issued an order directing Mr. Green to complete an affidavit and 

waiver with respect to his prior lawyer." (id., 11. 19-21). The Judge further 

explains how he previously explained to Mr. Green at the Nov. 17 Tel. Conf. 

that he'd need to do this in order to proceed forward with his IAC claims , and 

that there currently is a deadline of December 9, 2020·; for this to be don:e. 

(A 156, 11.1-5). Afterwards, the Judge asks Mr. Witzel "what is your plan far 

consulting with Mr. Green? Do you have a plan yet?" (id . , 11 . 6-7). 

In response, Mr. Witzel informed the Judge that he did not yet have a 

pl an, (id., 1. 8), and that he'd been looking through the docket, waiting to 

get appointed. (id., 11. 9-10). Mr. Witzel said that "aft er that I would fig-

ure out time to speak with Mr. Green and work through these issues and see w:Bt 

assistance I could provide him. Whether he would l ike me to be in the role as 

the assis tant to him, a shadow counsel , or if he would like us to take a more 

direct rol e . But all t o be di scussed with Mr. Green after I get appointed." 

(id. , U. 10-15). 
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